

Can precision seeding improve winter wheat establishment?

A comparative field study between precision seeding and conventional seeding of winter wheat at three different seeding rates

Carl Larsson

Master Thesis • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Department of Soil and Environment Agriculture Programme – Soil and Plant Science Series number: 2024:10 Uppsala 2024 Can precision seeding improve winter wheat establishment? A comparative field study between precision seeding and conventional seeding of winter wheat at three different seeding rates

Carl Larsson

Supervisor:	Thomas Keller, SLU, Department of Soil and Environment
Assistant supervisor:	Nina Pettersson, Väderstad AB
Assistant supervisor:	Martin Weih, SLU, Department of Crop Production Ecology
Examiner:	Bo Stenberg, SLU, Department of Soil and Environment

Credits:	30 credits
Level:	A2E
Course Title:	Master Thesis in Biology
Course code:	EX0898
Programme/education:	Agriculture Programme – Soil and Plant Science
Course coordinating dept:	Soil and Environment
Place of publication:	Uppsala Sweden
Year of publication:	2024
Cover picture:	Carl Larsson
Copyright:	All featured images are used with permission from the copyright owner.

Keywords:

Precision seeding, Winter wheat, Emergence, Plant development, Seeding depth, Seed singulation

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Soil and Environment

Abstract

Despite historical increases in winter wheat yields is the current trend showing signs of yield stagnation. This stagnation is a cause for concern when considering the escalating food demand due to a growing global population. Nonetheless, it is still evident that there remains a greater genetic potential for further increases in winter wheat yields and precision seeding of winter wheat stands out as one possibility to elevate productivity, both through an improved seed singulation and reduced seed depth variability. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate whether a precision seeder adapted for small grains could improve the establishment of a winter wheat crop. In contrast to earlier studies, the emphasis was not only on investigating seed placement, but also on analyzing how seed placement affects emergence and plant development. A field experiment was thus carried out in southern Sweden to compare a precision seeder prototype to a conventional seed drill at three different seeding rates, 188, 281, and 375 seeds/m². Crop establishment was assessed by investigating seeding depth, seed singulation, emergence, and plant development. The results show that precision seeding has the potential to improve winter wheat establishment, both through improved seed singulation and reduced seed depth variability. However, the improved seed singulation does not appear to be that advantageous at higher seeding rates or wider row spacings, as this results in plants being positioned closer together within the seed row. Furthermore, to fully unlock the potential of a reduced seed depth variability, all seeds must germinate promptly upon seeding to achieve a uniform emergence and plant development. During this field trial, both seeders were configured with different row spacings and fertilizer placements, which implies that further research is required to better understand the sole impact of an improved seed singulation and reduced seed depth variability on emergence and plant development, but also their subsequent contributions to the final yield.

Keywords: Precision seeding, Winter wheat, Emergence, Plant development, Seeding depth, Seed singulation

Sammanfattning

Trots historiska ökningar av höstveteskördarna visar den nuvarande trenden tecken på att skördeutvecklingen avtar. Denna stagnation är oroande med tanke på den ökande efterfrågan på livsmedel till följd av en växande global befolkning. Trots detta är det fortfarande tydligt att det finns en större genetisk potential för ytterligare skördeökningar och precisionsådd av höstvete framstår som en möjlighet till att öka produktiviteten, både genom en förbättrad frösingulering och minskad sådjupsvariation. Syftet med studie var därför att utvärdera om en precisionssåmaskin, specifik designad för spannmål, kunde förbättra etableringen av höstvete. Till skillnad från tidigare forskning, inriktades inte studien enbart på utsädesplaceringen, utan också på hur utsädesplaceringen påverkade uppkomsten och plantutvecklingen. Ett fältexperiment genomfördes därför i södra Sverige för att jämföra en precisionssåmaskinsprototyp mot en konventionell såmaskin vid tre olika utsädesmängder, 188, 281 och 375 frön/m². Grödetableringen utvärderades genom att analysera sådjup, frösingulering, uppkomst och plantutveckling. Resultaten tyder på att precisionssådd kan bidra till att förbättra etableringen av höstvete, både genom en förbättrad frösingulering och minskad sådjupsvariation. Den förbättrade frösinguleringen antas dock inte bli lika fördelaktig vid högre utsädesmängder eller bredare radavstånd, eftersom detta resulterar i att plantorna placeras närmare varandra i såraden. Dessutom, för att helt utnyttja potentialen med en minskad sådjupsvariation måste samtliga frön gro direkt vid sådd för att uppnå en jämn uppkomst och plantutveckling. Under detta fältförsök var båda såmaskinerna konfigurerade med olika radavstånd och gödselplaceringar, vilket antyder på att mer forskning behövs för att få en bättre förståelse över den enskilda effekten av en förbättrad frösingulering och minskad sådjupsvariation på uppkomsten och plantutvecklingen, men också deras efterföljande bidrag till den slutliga skörden.

Nyckelord: Precisionssådd, Höstvete, Uppkomst, Plantutveckling, Sådjup, Frösingulering

Table of contents

List c	of tables	7
List c	of figures	8
1.	Introduction	.10
2.	Background	.12
2.1	Winter wheat establishment	.12
2.2	Winter wheat development	.14
2.3	Precision seeding of winter wheat	.15
3.	Method	.17
3.1	Site description and soil characteristics	. 17
3.2	Experimental design and treatments	. 17
3.3	Seeding concepts	. 18
	3.3.1 Precision seeder	.18
	3.3.2 Conventional seed drill	.18
3.4	Seeding and crop management	. 18
3.5	Meteorological overview	.19
3.6	Measurements and evaluation	.20
	3.6.1 Crop emergence	.23
	3.6.2 Seed singulation	.24
	3.6.3 Seeding depth	.25
	3.6.4 Plant development	.25
3.7	Statistical analysis	.26
4.	Results	.27
4.1	Seeding depth	.27
4.2	Seed singulation	.28
4.3	Crop emergence	.29
	4.3.1 Targeted seed rate, seed germination, and final seedling emergence	.29
	4.3.2 Time of emergence and emergence duration	.29
	4.3.3 Emergence variability	.31
4.4	Plant development	.31
	4.4.1 Leaf and tiller numbers	.32
	4.4.2 Plant stage uniformity	. 32

	4.4.3 Rate of plant development	32							
5.	Discussion	35							
5.1	Seeding depth and crop emergence	35							
5.2	Seed singulation	38							
5.3	Plant development	39							
5.4	Improvement potentials and future studies	43							
6.	Concluding discussion	45							
Refer	ences	46							
Popu	lärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	53							
Ackn	Acknowledgements								

List of tables

Table 1. Soil characteristics from the experimental site
Table 2. Field trial details and seeder configurations for precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill)
Table 3. Growing degree-days (GDD) to initial, 50, and 90% emergence and duration of emergence (initial emergence -90% emergence) for the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill), for the parameters of seeding method & seeding rate, seeding method and seeding rate. Means in a column that do not share a letter are significantly different at the 5% level.30
Table 4. Plant development for the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill), for the parameters of seeding method & seeding rate, seeding method and seeding rate. Average leave or tiller number and standard deviation (SD), on October 10 th , October 22 nd and November 12 th . Phyllochron interval in growing degree days between 50% emergence-October 10 th , October 11 th -October 22 nd , October 23 rd -November 12 th and 50% emergence-November 12 th . Standard deviation illustrates variability in crop phenological development and phyllochron describes the development rate within each time period. Means in a column that do not share a letter are significantly different at the 5% level33

List of figures

- **Figure 2.** Mean monthly temperature (°C) and monthly precipitation (mm) between August 1st and November 30th at Härsnäs, near the field trial, along with average precipitation levels and temperatures for the same location......20

- Figure 5. Seed singulation at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the coefficient of variation (CoV) between the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill

(Drill). Numbers in bars refers to the theoretical seed distance between seeds in the seed furrow. Error bars display the standard deviation
Figure 6. Targeted seeding rate, germination rate and final seedling emergence at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill). Numbers represent the value for each bar. Error bars display the standard deviation
Figure 7. Emergence pattern and duration at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill)
Figure 8. Emergence variability during the emergence phase at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill). The X-axis represents the replicate with the most emerged plants subtracted from the replicate with the lowest number of emerged plants, divided by the final seedling emergence for each treatment to normalize the effect of the seeding rate.
Figure 9. Plant development on October 10 th , October 22 nd and November 12 th at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the precision seeder and seed drill. Error bars display the standard deviation
Figure 10. Seedbed finish after seeding with precision seeder (left) and seed drill (right).
Figure 11. Winter wheat establishment at the 50% seeding rate, comparing weed pressure between precision seeding (right) and conventional seeding (left) on October 7 th
Figure 12. Precision seeder with seed singulation. Results at the 50% seeding rate on October 10 th

1. Introduction

Wheat, harvested somewhere on the globe every month of the year (AMIS 2022), has with better farming practices and innovations experienced an increase in productivity, ensuring a more abundant and reliable source of this essential staple food. Despite historical increases in winter wheat yields is the current trend showing signs of yield stagnation, particularly in Europe (Olesen et al. 2010; Ray et al. 2012, 2013; Schauberger et al. 2018). This stagnation is a cause for concern when considering the escalating food demand due to a growing global population (Hunter et al. 2017). However, there is still proven to be a higher genetic potential for further improvements in winter wheat yields (Senapati & Semenov 2020), and several projects are currently attempting to close this yield gap (ADAS 2023; Great Lakes YEN 2023). To achieve higher wheat yields with increasing expectations related to sustainability and efficiency, new management practices have to be tested.

During the ongoing efforts to increase winter wheat yields, precision seeding stands out as one possibility to elevate productivity, and multiple machinery manufacturers have initiated exploration into this area (Horsch 2023; Väderstad 2023). But as of now, there is no precision seeder adapted for small grains currently available on the market. However, this is most likely to be changed in the near future (ATL 2023). Precision seeding technology is well known from crops like maize and soybeans and involves a precise and equal spacing of seeds within the seed furrow, also known as seed singulation (Murray et al. 2006). This improved seed singulation, along with a reduced seed depth variability, has the potential to improve both establishment and final yield in these precision seeding crops. (Krall et al. 1977; Carter et al. 1989; Nielsen 1993; Anderson 2022; Kimmelshue et al. 2022). Traditionally, winter wheat and other small grains have been sown using a seed drill, which follows a random distribution of seeds within the seed furrow (Murray et al. 2006). However, the adaptation of precision seeding has in recent studies shown to increase winter wheat yields between 5% and 11%, using customdesigned seeders or planters used for row crops, seeking to replicate the potential results achieved with a small-grain adapted precision seeder (Bund 2021; Copeland et al. 2021). Precision seeding of winter wheat also comes with the possibility of lowering seeding rates without compromising yield and economic return (Bund

2021). A more uniform seeding pattern also reduces the intra-specific plant competition, allowing for an increased water use efficiency (16.7% to 32.9%), and nitrogen use efficiency (3.8% to 10.9%) (Tao et al. 2019). Precision seeding thus entails reducing inputs while still maintaining or increasing yields. However, there is yet no indications of how precision seeding is affecting winter wheat emergence, emergence uniformity and variability in crop phenological development. To get a better understanding of how this increased yield potential is created, it becomes essential to overlook how a more precise seed placement is affecting the establishment, which plays a vital role in maximizing the yield potential of a winter wheat crop.

Given this information, a field trial experiment was conducted to see how precision seeding could improve the establishment of a winter wheat crop. The experiment involved a comparison between a precision seeder prototype adapted for small grains and a conventional seed drill to address the following hypothesis:

- 1. Seed depth variability will be reduced with the use of a precision seeder compared to a conventional seed drill
- 2. The seed singulation quality will improve with the use of a precision seeder compared to a conventional seed drill
- 3. Precision seeding will ensure a faster and more uniform crop emergence compared to conventional seeding
- 4. Precision seeding will ensure a faster and more uniform crop development compared to conventional seeding.

2. Background

2.1 Winter wheat establishment

The first step towards a productive winter wheat crop is to ensure a successful establishment. This process begins when the farmer places the seed in the soil. The seed then requires water, oxygen, and favourable temperatures to germinate (Anderson & Garlinge 2000; John et al. 2011). It is crucial to facilitate proper seedto-soil contact to maintain a sufficient level of moisture during this phase. Seeds lacking sufficient soil contact will have reduced protection against evaporation and becomes more vulnerable to wetting and drying cycles, causing an inefficient water transfer from the soil to the seed (Håkansson et al. 2008; John et al. 2011). Following a successful germination, leading up to emergence, plant development is primarily governed by temperature and seeding depth (Karow et al. 1993). The ideal seeding depth for winter wheat is achieved when seeds are uniformly placed at 2.5 cm, but seeds should always be placed into moisture to ensure a uniform emergence, even if this means seeding deeper (Bagg et al. 2017). However, placing seeds deeper than 10 cm should be avoided as emergence and plant vigor can be badly affected, leading to a reduced yield potential (Hadjichristodoulou et al. 1977; Gan et al. 1992). On the other hand, seeding shallower than 2.5 cm increases the risk of not seeding into moisture, causing a poorer and delayed emergence (Håkansson et al. 2008; Hooks n.d.). A seeding depth shallower than 2.5 cm also increases plant vulnerability to frost and frost heaving's, as it exposes the growth point and positions the crown roots closer to the soil surface (Eriksson & Magnusson 2014; Bagg et al. 2017). To ensure that all seeds are placed into moisture, seeds should be placed at a depth between 3 and 4 cm when using a seed drill, due to the variability in seed depth placement (Bagg et al. 2017). A precision seeder can on the other hand significantly reduce seed depth variability (Canfield et al. 2019). This is possible due to the gauge wheel alongside the disc opener, which positively regulates the disc and ensures that all seeds are placed in the soil at a consistent depth (Bagg et al. 2017). If seed depth variability decreases, the risk of placing seeds into dry soil declines, allowing for placement of seeds closer to the ideal seed depth of 2.5 cm. A reduced seed depth variability also facilitates a higher probability of a more uniform emergence, as all seeds will have the same

temperature requirement before emerging (Karow et al. 1993). If plants do not emerge uniformly, the early-emerging plants will diminish the yield potential of the smaller later-emerging plants, as demonstrated by Gan et al. (1992). Their research revealed that plants emerging within the first three days will produce 1.4 times the grain yield of the plants emerging on day 4 to 6, and 3.2 times more than those emerging on day 7 to 9. This same phenomenon is also well documented in grain maize where research also shows that the early-emerging plants cannot compensate for the yield loss of the smaller later-emerging pants, leading to an overall yield loss (Carter et al. 1989). However, how the relative date of winter wheat emergence will affect the overall yield has not been extensively studied. But achieving a more uniform emergence will ultimately leave a crop stand with more equally sized plants (Gan et al. 1992). A crop stand with less variability in crop phenological development could present opportunities for more informed management decisions, like the use of plant growth regulators, fungicides and herbicides, as these are ideally applied during a specific development stage. Fast emergence is also an important component during establishment, as this enables for early growth, ultimately leading to a competitive crop during the early stages, something that is especially important against weeds (Fahad et al. 2015).

The presence of phosphorus plays a vital role in the success of a winter wheat crop, which can be applied through a starter fertilizer in the autumn. Phosphorus helps to promote plant growth (Crozier et al. 2013; Bagg et al. 2017) and improves frost tolerance (Crozier et al. 2013). It also allows plants to mature earlier and more evenly. As seeding is postponed, the value of a starter phosphorus fertilizer becomes even more critical to ensure high winter survival and grain yield (Knapp & Knapp 1978). The application of autumn nitrogen applications can also be an option. However, nitrogen should not be applied in larger quantities, as winter wheat usually does not take up more than 20 kg of nitrogen per hectare during the autumn (Lindén 2000). Nitrogen can, despite lower quantities, help promote the development of autumn tillers (Alley et al. 2009). The ideal situation is to develop one to two autumn tillers for a winter wheat plant, (Eriksson & Magnusson 2014), meaning that the ideal crop stage before winter is between 21-22 when using Zadoks development scale (Zadoks et al. 1974). Autumn tillers are vital to ensure high yields of winter wheat (Thiry et al. 2002). Plants with inadequate autumn tillers cannot fully compensate for this by producing spring tillers, as these have a lower harvest index and produce a lower grain yield (Thiry et al. 2002). However, an excessive number of tillers can cause high competition among neighbouring plants, causing a lower tiller survival and a lower harvest index. Another risk associated with an overdeveloped plant is the potential rise and exposure of the growth point, leading to an increased vulnerability to frost (Eriksson & Magnusson 2014). Conversely, a small and underdeveloped plant will have a smaller root system

which possesses fewer nutrient resources, posing challenges related to frost heaving's and dehydration damages. An underdeveloped root system also limits the potential for water and nutrient uptake, which can be markedly important during a dry spring (Hoad et al. 2004), something that regularly can occur in the eastern parts of Sweden (Eriksson & Magnusson 2014).

2.2 Winter wheat development

One common way to monitor winter wheat development is by using temperature accumulations over time, which can be monitored using growing degree-days (GDD). McMaster & Wilhelm (1997) discuss two comparable interpretations for calculating GDD. The main difference between the two methods is how the temperature is integrated with the base temperature. In this study, the following method will be used: $GDD=[(T_{MAX}+T_{MIN})/2]$ -T_{BASE}, where the average day temperature is subtracted by the base temperature (T_{BASE}). The base temperature is the threshold below which a specific process of interest does not advance. However, this can vary depending on the development stage and winter wheat variety (Slafer & Rawson 1995). To simplify, 0°C is commonly implemented as the base temperature for winter wheat (Kirby et al. 1985; Baker et al. 1986; Karow et al. 1993; Fowler 2018).

During the establishment phase of a winter wheat crop, development consists of three primal stages. These stages are germination and emergence, seedling growth, and tillering (Zadoks et al. 1974). The germination process starts when the seed absorbs water, followed by the emergence of the radicle and coleoptile (Zadoks et al. 1974). The first seminal roots are then developed, and the coleoptile starts to elongate, which protects the first leaf during emergence (Karow et al. 1993). The initial leaf will then emerge through the tip of the coleoptile. However, when seeds are sown too deep, there is a higher risk of the first leaf emerging beneath the soil surface. In such cases, the leaf lacks the stiffness to penetrate the soil like the coleoptile and may become defective (Hines et al. 1991; Karow et al. 1993; Kirby 1993). The duration for completing germination and emergence depends on the interaction between soil temperature, soil-water content, and seeding depth (Lindstrom et al. 1976; DeJong & Best 1979). If the seed is placed in moist soil, then the germination process requires approximately 80 GDD, while the duration from coleoptile elongation to final emergence requires 20 GDD per centimeter of seed depth (Karow et al. 1993). The seedling stage initiates with the appearance of the first leaf, during which additional seminal roots develop, and the crown becomes noticeable (Fowler 2018). The leaves will then emerge in a defined pattern, which is called a phyllochron (Anderson & Garlinge 2000). In general, most winter wheat varieties have a phyllochron of 100 GDD, which means that the

time between the appearance of two successive leaves requires a temperature accumulation of 100 GDD (Karow et al. 1993; Anderson & Garlinge 2000; Fowler 2018). However, this interval can fluctuate based on variety and environmental conditions (Johansson 1955; Anderson & Garlinge 2000; Fageria et al. 2006), leading to a phyllochron interval ranging between 75 and 120 GDD (Karow et al. 1993; Oakes et al. 2016; Fowler 2018). The tillering stage begins when the plant has developed three leaves on the main stem and the first tiller starts to emerge (Fowler 2018). Tiller one will develop from the first leave on the main steam, and the second tiller will develop from the second leave, and so on (Karow et al. 1993). Leave and tiller production is synchronized so that the first tiller will appear at the same time as the fourth leave and the second tiller at the same time as the fifth leave. Later on will secondary tillers develop from these primary tillers in the same synchronized pattern.

Recognizing the various development stages of a winter wheat crop is essential for farmers, as it guides them in making informed management decisions. Applying fertilizers and pesticides at the right development stage ensures extracting the maximum value from the product. Today there are several scales used by producers to determine the development stages of a winter wheat crop. Some of these are the Feeks, Zadoks, and BBCH scales (Large 1954; Zadoks et al. 1974; Meier 2001). The Feeks scale is more common in the United States, while the Zadoks and BBCH scales are more frequently used in Europe (Wise et al. 2011).

2.3 Precision seeding of winter wheat

Precision seeding helps improve the spatial distribution of winter wheat plants within the seed row (Canfield et al. 2019; Bund 2021). This improved spatial distribution is achievable through the vacuum disc precision meter system, allowing for a precise and equal spacing of wheat seeds within the seed furrow, also known as seed singulation (Murray et al. 2006). Seed singulation is quantified using a statistical metric known as the coefficient of variation (CoV) (Bund 2021). When seeding winter wheat, a conventional seed drill typically exhibits a CoV of approximately 100%, whereas a precision seeder tends to show a slightly lower value (Canfield et al. 2019; Bund 2021). In this case, a lower CoV is better and gives indication of an improved seed singulation. The adaptation of precision seeding has in recent studies shown to increase winter wheat yields between 5% and 11%, by using custom-designed seeders or planters used for row crops, seeking to replicate the potential results achieved with a small-grain adapted precision seeder (Bund 2021; Copeland et al. 2021). Precision seeding of winter wheat also has the potential to reduce seeding rates without compromising yield and economic return (Bund 2021). A more uniform seeding pattern also reduces the intra-specific

plant competition, allowing for an increased water use efficiency (16.7% to 32.9%), and nitrogen use efficiency (3.8% to 10.9%) (Tao et al. 2019). However, the increased yield potential seems limited at higher seed densities, given the decreased distance between plants within the seed row (Bund 2021).

Precision seeding is commonly used in row crops like maize, which is planted with seeding rates from 5 to 10 seeds/ m^2 , at row spacings between 50 and 90 cm (Bagg et al. 2017). Winter wheat is typically sown using a seed drill equipped with mass flow metering, metering the correct seed quantity for a specific area (Murray et al. 2006). Seeding rates are significantly higher in winter wheat $(350-450 \text{ seeds/m}^2)$, and row spacings are much narrower (10-25 cm) compared to maize (Bagg et al. 2017). Precision seeders have historically been designed to singulate seeds in row crops like maize, which makes it harder to realize a singulation metering system in winter wheat, given the higher seeding rates. Singulation of individual wheat seeds could, however, be more feasible at lower driving speeds or narrower row spacing, which, on the other hand, requires more working hours or larger machine widths, and narrower row spacing is likely to pose technical challenges (Bund 2021). The most effective approach is probably to reduce seeding rates, as winter wheat can produce more grain-bearing tillers per plant at lower seed densities (Gooding et al. 2002). This could also be combined with hybrid wheat varieties, exhibiting increased tillering capacity, attributed to the heterosis effect (Rai et al. 1970), providing room to reduce seeding rates even more. Nevertheless, lower seeding rates require a growing season of adequate length to facilitate more tillers per plant, and to sustain yields at reduced seed densities, it becomes even more critical to create good seedbed conditions to guarantee a successful establishment (Bund 2021). However, there is still little knowledge on how precision seeding of winter wheat affects establishment, which plays a vital role in maximizing the yield potential of a winter wheat crop. If precision seeding could facilitate quicker emergence and plant development, it might create opportunities for postponing the seeding date while still ensuring robust plant growth. Something that could alleviate issues related to pests and pathogens (Eriksson & Magnusson 2014). Delaying the seeding date also diminishes the weed pressure (Ona et al. 2018), and with an accelerated plant development during the autumn, the potential decrease in yield might not be as significant. Moreover, less variability in crop phenological development might enhance the effectiveness of various management practices, such as fungicide applications or the use of plant growth regulators, as these are ideally applied during specific developmental stages.

3. Method

3.1 Site description and soil characteristics

A field experiment was carried out during the autumn of 2023, outside the town of Mjölby, in south of Sweden (58°19'17.1"N, 14°57'50.9"E), a region that is characterized by a humid continental climate (Beck et al. 2018). The area has an average annual temperature of 7°C and a yearly precipitation averaging 582 mm (SMHI 2023a). The topsoil at the experimental site had an average clay content of 18% with a soil organic matter content of 3.1% (Table 1). Soil pH was measured to 6.2 using the H₂O-method (Jordbruksverket 2024), and nutrient values were relatively abundant (Eurofins 2023).

Clay content	Soil organic matter	pH	P-AL	K-AL	Mg-AL
(%)	(%)		(mg/100g)	(mg/100g)	(mg/100g)
18	3.1	6.2	7.2	11.2	9.6

Table 1. Soil characteristics from the experimental site

3.2 Experimental design and treatments

The experimental setup followed a randomized complete block design (Figure 1). The design included six treatments and three replicates (blocks). Each treatment corresponded to a given combination of seeding method, either precision seeding or conventional seeding, and seeding rate, 375 seeds/m² (100%), 281 seeds/m² (75%), or 188 seeds/m² (50%). The seed drill operated with a width of four meters, while the precision seeder had a working width of six meters. Each block had a length of approximately 150 meters.

Block 1					Block 2					Block 3					N[]		
75%	75%	100%	100%	50%	50%	100%	50%	75%	50%	100%	75%	100%	100%	75%	50%	75%	50%
PS	Drill	Drill	PS	PS	Drill	PS	Drill	PS	PS	Drill	Drill	PS	Drill	Drill	Drill	PS	PS

Figure 1. Experimental design overview, with the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill) at three seeding rates, 50, 75 and 100%. The northward direction is displayed in the top right corner to indicate the orientation of the field experiment.

3.3 Seeding concepts

3.3.1 Precision seeder

The precision seeder featured a central fill tank for seeds and a front-mounted fertilizer hopper, along with two ranks of row units, put together at a row spacing of 22.5 cm (Table 2). Each row unit had a reconsolidation wheel in front to create even seeding conditions for all row units and was shortly followed by a row cleaner for residue management. The row units had a double disc coulter, with two gauge wheels positioned beside each disc, which positively regulated each disc to ensure that all seeds were placed in the soil at a consistent depth. The vacuum disc precision meter system allowed for an equal spacing of seeds in the seed furrow, also known as seed singulation. The starter fertilizer was seed-placed along with the seed. Lastly, two closing wheels pushed the open seed slot all together.

3.3.2 Conventional seed drill

The conventional seed drill had a modern design and featured a hopper capable of holding both seeds and fertilizer in two separate compartments, along with two ranks of seed coulters, with a row spacing of 12.5 cm (Table 2). The starter fertilizer was side-banded between every other seed row at a spacing of 25 cm, using a third row of coulters in front of the seed coulters. The seed coulters were of a single disc coulter type, followed by a large packer wheel and then a following harrow. The seed drill was additionally equipped with a front tool comprised of two rows of discs for seedbed preparation.

3.4 Seeding and crop management

Seeding took place on September 15th and 16th, falling within the recommended seeding window for the region, which spans from September 10th to September 20th (Eriksson & Magnusson 2014). Due to a smaller unexpected malfunction on the precision seeder, the seed drill treatments underwent a delay and were sown on the following day, which explains the difference in seeding dates (Table 2). Prior to seeding, the field underwent two passes with a combination cultivator, and the

preceding crop was oilseed rape. The selected winter wheat variety was RGT Koi, with a thousand-grain weight of 43 and a germination rate of 98%. The seed rate was set to 375 seeds/m², which is common in the region at this time of year (Lantmännen 2023), along with 281 seeds/m² and 188 seeds/m². The seeding depth turned out to be approximately 2.4 cm for the precision seeder and 4.4 cm for the seed drill, and the intention was not for the precision seeder treatments to be sown 2 cm shallower. At seeding, 125 kg of starter fertilizer (NPK 8-10.5-14) was applied. The fertilizer was seed-placed with the precision seeder and side-banded with the seed drill at a spacing of 25 cm (Table 2). The field had a notable weed biomass and was sprayed with a prosulfocarb product (Boxer) on October 18th. Following the application, the herbicide effectively controlled the weed pressure.

Seeder	Seed rate	Seeding date	Fertilizer placement	Row spacing
	(seeds/m ²)			(cm)
PS	375	Sep 15 th	Seed-placed	22.5
PS	281	Sep 15 th	Seed-placed	22.5
PS	188	Sep 15 th	Seed-placed	22.5
Drill	375	Sep 16 th	Side-banded	12.5
Drill	281	Sep 16 th	Side-banded	12.5
Drill	188	Sep 16 th	Side-banded	12.5

Table 2. Field trial details and seeder configurations for precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill).

3.5 Meteorological overview

The autumn of 2023 presented exceptional challenges due to significantly higher precipitation levels in the region. In August, the total precipitation reached 171 mm, a substantial change from the usual 72 mm (Figure 2) (SMHI 2023a; b). Despite temperatures in August being close to the monthly average, the persistent rain posed difficulties during harvest and tillage operations. In September, precipitation levels returned to near-average, providing a broader seeding window between September 2nd and September 17th. From September 18th to September 20th, a 6 mm rainfall occurred, resulting in the field trial being exposed to rain shortly after sowing. September temperatures were otherwise notably higher than the average. Both October and November also received more rain than normal. Over all four months, there had been a total rainfall of 387 mm. Additionally, October and November 14th. The total temperature accumulation was otherwise near average at the end of November.



Figure 2. Mean monthly temperature (°C) and monthly precipitation (mm) between August 1^{st} and November 30^{th} at Härsnäs, near the field trial, along with average precipitation levels and temperatures for the same location.

3.6 Measurements and evaluation

Data gathering occurred between September and December and eighteen grading sites were selected in the field. The locations were intentionally selected in the field to get similar field conditions for both seeders, ultimately to provide a better comparison. Each grading site, with an area of 0.5 m², was placed 30 meters into the experimental trial from the field's southern edge. Since the grading sites were intended to be uniform, there was a variation in placement of plus-minus two meters. The grading area of 0.5 m^2 was then split up into two seeding rows. Two seeding rows were considered better than one in case something happened to the first row during seeding, and having more than two rows was not considered ideal either, as it would result in very short row lengths. Both seeding rows meant for measurements were subsequently placed in the center section of both seeders to prevent the results from being influenced by tractor wheel tracks or variations between the outer sections of the seeders. The chosen seed rows for each seeder are displayed in Figure 3 as four rings with solid lines. Initially, the plan was to position both seeding rows 56.25 cm from the center in each direction, as both seeders would have had seed coulters at these positions within the center section. Regrettably, there were some minor hiccups. The precision seeder's rear rows pushed soil onto the front rows that were already sown, thereby impacting the seeding depth. This soil ridge on every other row is marked with an A in Figure 3. The rear rows on the other hand, had a tendency towards a more open seed slot, marked with B in Figure 3. It was considered better to do measurements in the seed rows without ridges (B) since these were closer to a representative result. One row on the precision seeder also emerged much earlier than the rest and was subsequently left out in the evaluations, marked with B* in Figure 3. Consequently, measurements in the initial seed row on the precision seeder, marked with a dashed circle in Figure 3, had to be shifted three rows to the right. The seed row on the left-hand side of the seed

drill was chosen to remain in its current position since there was a tendency towards an elevation in the center of some seed drill treatments, marked with C in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Each square represents a seed row (seed coulter) in the middle section of the seeder, precision seeder (bottom, with 22.5 cm row spacing) seed drill (top, with 12.5 cm row spacing). Chosen seed rows for measurements are marked with circles (solid lines). The dashed circle marks the primary selected seed row for the precision seeder but was swapped out because every other seed row had a soil ridge (marked with A). Seed rows marked with B had a tendency towards an open seed slot but were considered to be fine for measurements. One row on the precision seeder had an odd emergence and was left out in the selection for this reason (marked with B*). The seed drill created an elevation among the six middle seed rows in some treatments, which ruled out these rows in the selection (marked with C). Tractor wheel tracks and direction of travel are displayed on the left- and right-hand side.

3.6.1 Crop emergence

Crop emergence was defined as the point at which the wheat plant had grown to a height of five centimeters above the soil surface. A height of five centimeters was deemed to be a reasonably optimal threshold. A plant in the range below five centimeters may have been more susceptible to disturbances caused by field irregularities or when encountering stones or other obstacles. A plant that just emerged through the soil is also more challenging to detect, and the risk of leaving a few out could have been higher. When the height instead exceeds five centimeters, differences in height would have become more challenging to determine. Moreover, variations in plant vigor may arise at this stage due to factors like nutrient availability, which also could contribute to differences in plant height. Crop emergence assessment took place over an entire week, from September 25th to October 2nd and a final count was done on October 11th to catch any descendants. The assessment was conducted on both seeders across all three seeding rates. The evaluation was performed in two seed rows for each seeder (Figure 3). Due to the varying row spacing between the seeders, the lengths of the two rows were adjusted to be consistent at 0.5 m². Thus, the seed rows became 111 cm in length in the precision seeding treatments, whereas the seed rows in the seed drill treatments were extended to 200 cm. Each day, a count was completed for all emerged plants in the two chosen rows, resulting in a progressively higher number each day.

Temperature accumulations over time are often used to evaluate the progress of emergence. In this study, growing degree-days (GDD) will be used to monitor the accumulated temperature (Eq. 1). GDD is determined by subtracting the base temperature from the daily mean temperature:

 $GDD = [(T_{MAX}+T_{MIN})/2]-T_{BASE}$ (Eq. 1)

As winter wheat has a base temperature of 0° C, the calculation becomes easy and involves simply adding up the daily mean temperatures. GDD is more accurate than just using days from seeding to emergence, as the rate of emergence is influenced by temperature. This approach also enables a meaningful comparison of the two seeders despite differences in sowing dates.

To compare the time of emergence between both seeders, emergence was split up at three points in time: initial emergence (when the first seedling reached a height of five cm), 50 and 90% emergence. These events were determined by examining the emergence graphs for each replicate. While one might argue that 100% emergence would be more suitable to include instead of 90% emergence, there were

several days between the emergence assessment and the final plant count, which makes it unclear when precisely 100% emergence occurred. The final seedling emergence was specified as the 100% emergence level since these plants make up the final crop stand. The length of the emergence phase, thus the emergence uniformity, was determined using the GDD requirement between initial emergence and 90% emergence.

Emergence variability was computed by calculating the difference in plant numbers between replicates. The one replicate with the most emerged plants was subtracted from the replicate that had the lowest number of emerged plants for each day, eventually dividing this difference by the final seedling emergence to normalize the effect of the seeding rate (Eq. 2):

Em. Var = (Highest emergence – Lowest emergence) / Final seedling emergence (Eq.2)

3.6.2 Seed singulation

Seed singulation was conducted within the identical rows used to assess crop emergence, across all three seeding rates. The measurements were carried out using a folding ruler placed alongside each row. Subsequently, measuring the distance between individual plants. Seed singulation was quantified as the variation in horizontal distance between seeds (standard deviation), divided by the average seed-to-seed distance in the seed row (theoretical seed distance) using a well-known statistical metric, called the coefficient of variation (CoV) (Bund 2021) (Eq. 3). A lower CoV gives indications of a better seed singulation.

CoV = Standard deviation / Theoretical seed distance (Eq. 3)

The conditions for seed singulation measurements were found most favorable just before the two-leaf stage. As the wheat plant develops two or more leaves, it might have become more challenging to distinguish whether it was two individual plants or a single plant with multiple leaves. This difference could have been particularly difficult to differentiate at higher seeding rates when plants are positioned in closer proximity to each other. This is the reason behind the selection of different measurement dates between the two seeders, as they had progressed differently in development. As a result, measurements were conducted on September 29th in the precision seeding treatments and on October 2nd in the seed drill treatments.

3.6.3 Seeding depth

The seeding depth assessment was also conducted within the same rows used to assess crop emergence and seed singulation and was also calculated for all three seeding rates. To measure seeding depth, a digital calliper was used to obtain the precise distance between the center of the seed and the point at which the plant stalk began to show signs of greening. The assessment took place on October 10th, as plants were dug up and washed to facilitate a better assessment. Afterwards, plants were brought indoors, and seeding depth measurements were carried out the next day, on October 11th. During this assessment, all germinated and non-germinated seeds were also counted to get a better understanding of the germination rate in each treatment.

3.6.4 Plant development

The same plants dug up on October 10th to measure seeding depth were also utilized to determine the plant development stages on October 11th. To assess the development stages, Zadoks decimal scale was implemented (Zadoks et al. 1974). The development stages were further refined to provide a more detailed representation of the differences and variations among all treatments. The seedling stages and tillering stages were consequently subdivided into narrower intervals. For example, stage 12 was split into 11.5-12 and 12-12.5, and stage 21 was subdivided into 20.5-21 and 21-21.5. On October 22nd, plants were dug up and brought indoors for evaluation the second time. As the original seeding rows had been dug up during seed depth evaluation and in the initial plant development staging, grading sites were relocated forward by one to two meters, using the same row lengths, while remaining within the same seed rows. The third plant staging took place on November 12th. This third staging did not have the same interval as the first two, as plant development was slowed down due to decreasing temperatures. Grading sites were once again shifted forward by one to two meters, and plants were dug up and brought indoors for evaluation.

The rate of plant development was examined across four distinct periods, from 50% emergence to October 10th, October 11th to October 22nd, October 23rd to November 12th, and from 50% emergence to November 12th. To compute the plant development rate, the accumulated GDD within each period was divided by the number of developed leaves within the same period to get the phyllochron interval, which refers to the time between the appearance of successive leaves. A higher rate of plant development is thus equivalent to a lower phyllochron.

The standard deviation (SD) was used to calculate variability in crop phenological development among neighboring plants, on October 10th, October 22^{nd,} and

November 12th. A lower standard deviation indicates for less variation, resulting in more neighbouring plants assessing the same development stage.

3.7 Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was conducted using Minitab Statistical Software, version 21. A two-way ANOVA analysis was carried out, which included the factors of seed rate, seeding method, and block number, along with an assessment of the interaction between seeding rate and seeding method. The statistical analysis focused on the following response variables: difference in germination rate and final emergence, seed depth variability, emergence at three different points in time, emergence uniformity, plant development at three different points in time, plant uniformity at three different points in time, and the plant development rate at four unique time intervals. To evaluate the significance of the analysis, a significance level of 0.05 was applied. Post-hoc Tukey's test was used to identify precise distinctions among the various treatments when a statistical difference was obtained.

4. Results

4.1 Seeding depth

The precision seeder maintained a more consistent average seeding depth, ranging between 2.5, 2.2, and 2.3 cm, with outliers excluded, at the 50, 75, and 100% seeding rate respectively (Figure 4), showing a maximum difference of only 0.3 cm in average seeding depth between treatments. In comparison, the seed drill exhibited an average seeding depth of 4.8, 4.0, and 4.4 cm, with outliers excluded, at the 50, 75, and 100% seeding rate respectively, with a maximum difference of 0.8 cm in average seeding depth between treatments. The precision seeder's average seeding depth was accordingly set roughly 2 cm shallower at all three seeding rates, and the intention was not for the precision seeder as a concept to be sown 2 cm shallower. Furthermore, the precision seeder demonstrated a significantly reduced variability in seeding depth, with a standard deviation of 4.1, whereas the seed drill showed a higher standard deviation of 9.8.



Figure 4. Average seeding depth and seed depth variability at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill). The coloured box represents 50% of the data, denoting the interquartile range (IQR), which extends from the lower quartile (Q1 or 25 percentile) to the upper quartile (Q3 or 75 percentile). Cross marks the average seeding depth in

the coloured box and the centre line represents the median. Outliers marked with circles are values below Q1-IQR1.5 or above Q3+IQR1.5. The precision seeder had a standard deviation of 4.1 in seed depth variability whereas the seed drill showed a higher standard deviation of 9.8.

4.2 Seed singulation

The precision seeder demonstrated a lower coefficient of variation (CoV) at the 75 and 100% seeding rate, with values of 97% and 99% respectively (Figure 5). The seed drill showed a CoV of 100% and 123% at the 75 and 100% seeding rates respectively. However, at the 50% seeding rate, both seeders performed similarly with a CoV of 97%. Each bar is complemented by a numerical value, illustrating the average distance between seeds in the seed furrow, with variations between 1.1 cm and 5.5 cm (Figure 5). This variation is caused by differences in row spacings between the two seeders and the various seeding rates (Table 2). The wider row spacing in the precision seeder treatments explains the lower average distance play an important role in the outcome of the seed singulation and complicate the comparison between treatments, something that will be further reviewed in the discussion.



Figure 5. Seed singulation at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the coefficient of variation (CoV) between the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill). Numbers in bars refers to the theoretical seed distance between seeds in the seed furrow. Error bars display the standard deviation.

4.3 Crop emergence

4.3.1 Targeted seed rate, seed germination, and final seedling emergence

The germination rate surpassed the targeted seeding rate in the precision seeder treatments, indicating that the actual seed output exceeded the targeted seeding rate (Figure 6). Conversely, a poorer germination rate relative to the targeted seeding rate was observed for the seed drill treatments. As no ungerminated seeds were discovered during the assessment of seeding depth, it could be inferred that the seed output in the seed drill treatments probably fell below the targeted seeding rate. Furthermore, when comparing the two seeding methods, the precision seeder exhibited a significantly higher emergence rate relative to the germination rate, indicating that more of the germinated seeds emerged in the precision seeder treatments. Consequently, the final seedling emergence in the precision seeder treatments reached 209, 330, and 403 plants/m² at the 50, 75, and 100% seeding rates respectively. Compared to the seed drill treatments that reached an emergence of 139, 219, and 277 plants/m² at the 50, 75, and 100% seeding rates respectively.



Figure 6. Targeted seeding rate, germination rate and final seedling emergence at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill). Numbers represent the value for each bar. Error bars display the standard deviation.

4.3.2 Time of emergence and emergence duration

The precision seeder reached both initial, 50 and 90% emergence significantly faster than the seed drill (Table 3). Requiring 129, 163, and 183 GDD for initial, 50 and 90% emergence respectively, whereas the seed drill required 146, 170 and 193

GDD to reach initial, 50 and 90% emergence respectively. However, the precision seeder required more GDD between initial emergence and 90% emergence compared to the seed drill. This is also evident in Figure 7, where the precision seeder exhibits a gentler slope at all three seeding rates, implying for a more extended emergence phase. The seeding rate does not impact the time of emergence or the duration between initial emergence and 90% emergence significantly.

Table 3. Growing degree-days (GDD) to initial, 50, and 90% emergence and duration of emergence (initial emergence -90% emergence) for the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill), for the parameters of seeding method & seeding rate, seeding method and seeding rate. Means in a column that do not share a letter are significantly different at the 5% level.

	Initial Emergence	50% Emergence	90% Emergence	Duration of emergence		
Seeding method & Seeding rate						
PS 100%	129 ^A	164 ^A	185 ^A	56 ^A		
PS 75%	129 ^A	163 ^A	185 ^A	56 ^A		
PS 50%	129 ^A	162 ^A	180 ^A	51 ^A		
Drill 100%	152 ^B	172 ^A	193 ^A	41 ^A		
Drill 75%	146 ^B	168 ^A	197 ^A	52 ^A		
Drill 50%	141 ^B	169 ^A	189 ^A	48 ^A		
Seeding method						
PS	129 ^A	163 ^A	183 ^A	54 ^A		
Drill	146 ^B	170 ^B	193 ^B	47 ^A		
Seeding rate						
100%	141 ^A	168 ^A	189 ^A	48 ^A		
75%	137 ^A	166 ^A	191 ^A	54 ^A		
50%	135 ^A	165 ^A	185 ^A	50 ^A		



Figure 7. Emergence pattern and duration at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill).

4.3.3 Emergence variability

Variability in emergence between replicates brings one additional aspect to the evaluation of the crop stand evenness. Throughout the emergence phase, the precision seeder demonstrated a reduced variability in the number of emerged plants between replicates (Figure 8). The seed drill displays an emergence variability as high as 45% at its peak, at the 50% seeding rate, while the precision seeder, at most, had an emergence variability of only 15% at the 75% seeding rate.



Figure 8. Emergence variability during the emergence phase at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill). The X-axis represents the replicate with the most emerged plants subtracted from the replicate with the lowest number of emerged plants, divided by the final seedling emergence for each treatment to normalize the effect of the seeding rate.

4.4 Plant development

In order to evaluate the plants, they had to be dug up to differentiate among them. Consequently, a new location was selected in the field for each assessment as outlined in the methodology. This might have impacted the results since different plants were examined during all three assessments. The seed drill treatments were also sown one day later than the precision seeder treatments, but all six treatments were examined on the same day. This led to the precision seeder treatments having one additional day for leaf and tiller development.

4.4.1 Leaf and tiller numbers

The precision seeder treatments have been significantly ahead in both leave and tiller development the entire autumn (Table 4, Figure 9). As of the last plant assessment on November 12th, the precision seeder displayed an average tiller count of 1 per plant, whereas the seed drill had developed only 0.7 tillers per plant. A notable observation is the precision seeding treatment at the 50% seeding rate on November 12th. It exhibits a significantly higher number of tillers per plant than the 75 and 100% seeding rates sown by the precision seeder (Table 4). No significant difference was found between the three seeding rates. However, a lower seeding rate seems to have produced slightly more leaves and tillers compared to a higher seeding rate.

4.4.2 Plant stage uniformity

The precision seeder had higher variability in crop phenological development among neighbouring plants compared to the seed drill, but only with a significant difference on October 10^{th} and October 22^{nd} (Table 4). This is also evident in Figure 9, where the precision seeder displays shorter bars across more development stages. The seeding rate has not seemed to affect plant stage uniformity significantly.

4.4.3 Rate of plant development

The precision seeder displayed a significantly faster plant development rate between 50% emergence and October 10th, with a phyllochron interval of 68, compared to the seed drill at 74 (Table 4). However, between October 11th and October 22nd, no significant differences were observed between the two seeders. Yet, between October 23rd and November 12th, the precision seeding method experienced a halt in development, requiring a significantly higher phyllochron of 79 compared to the seed drill at 73. Throughout the entire autumn, from 50% emergence to November 12th, no significant differences were observed between the two seeding methods regarding the plant development rate (Table 4). No significant distinction in the rate of plant development was identified in the combination of seeding method & seeding rate or between the seeding rates.

Table 4. Plant development for the precision seeder (PS) and seed drill (Drill), for the parameters of seeding method & seeding rate, seeding method and seeding rate. Average leave or tiller number and standard deviation (SD), on October 10th, October 22nd and November 12th. Phyllochron interval in growing degree days between 50% emergence-October 10th, October 22nd, October 23rd-November 12th and 50% emergence-November 12th. Standard deviation illustrates variability in crop phenological development and phyllochron describes the development rate within each time period. Means in a column that do not share a letter are significantly different at the 5% level.

	50% Emergence - 10 Oct			11 0	Oct - 22	Oct	23 O	ct - 12 N	50% Emergence - 12 Nov	
	Avg. Leaf No	SD	Phyllochron	Avg. Leaf No	SD	Phyllochron	Avg. Tiller No	SD	Phyllochron	Phyllochron
Seeding method & Seeding rate										
PS 100%	2.0 ^A	0.41 ^A	68 ^A	2.8 ^A	0.33 ^A	97 ^A	1.0 ^A	$0.41\ ^{\rm A}$	84 ^A	78 ^A
PS 75%	2.1 ^A	0.38^{AB}	68 ^A	2.8 ^A	0.31 ^A	97 ^A	1.0 ^A	0.39 ^A	81 ^A	77 ^A
PS 50%	2.1 ^A	0.35^{AB}	67 ^A	2.8 ^A	0.33 ^A	108 ^A	1.2 ^B	$0.46^{\text{ A}}$	71 ^A	75 ^A
Drill 100%	1.6 ^B	0.24 ^B	72^{AB}	2.4 ^B	$0.27\ ^{\rm A}$	95 ^A	0.7 ^C	$0.43^{\text{ A}}$	75 ^A	78 ^A
Drill 75%	1.5 ^B	0.24 ^B	77 ^B	2.4 ^B	0.27 ^A	95 ^A	0.7 ^C	0.35 ^A	72 ^A	77 ^A
Drill 50%	1.7 ^B	0.24 ^B	71 ^{AB}	2.4 ^B	0.25 ^A	100 ^A	0.7 ^C	$0.41\ ^{\rm A}$	73 ^A	77 ^A
Seeding method										
PS	2.1 ^A	0.38 ^A	68 ^A	2.8 ^A	0.32 ^A	101 ^A	1.0 ^A	$0.42^{\text{ A}}$	79 ^A	76 ^A
Drill	1.6 ^B	0.24^{B}	74 ^B	2.4 ^B	0.27 ^B	96 ^A	0.7 ^B	0.39 ^A	73 ^B	77 ^A
Seeding rate										
100%	1.8 ^A	0.32 ^A	70^{A}	2.6 ^A	0.30 ^A	96 ^A	0.8 ^A	$0.42^{\text{ A}}$	79 ^A	78 ^A
75%	1.8 ^A	0.31 ^A	73 ^A	2.6 ^A	0.29 ^A	96 ^A	0.9 ^A	0.37 ^A	77 ^A	77 ^A
50%	1.9 ^A	0.30 ^A	69 ^A	2.6 ^A	0.29 ^A	104 ^A	1.0 ^A	0.44 ^A	72 ^A	76 ^A



Figure 9. Plant development on October 10th, October 22nd and November 12th at the 50, 75 and 100% seeding rate, comparing the precision seeder and seed drill. Error bars display the standard deviation.

5. Discussion

This study aimed to investigate how precision seeding could improve winter wheat establishment. To achieve this, a field experiment was set up to compare a precision seeder prototype adapted for small grains, against a conventional seed drill. The field trial also included three different seeding rates, 375 seeds/m² (100%), 281 seeds/m² (75%), and 188 seeds/m² (50%), with field assessments overlooking the seeding depth, seed singulation, emergence, and plant development. As both seeders had different row spacings, fertilizer placements, sowing dates and average seed depth, this presented a challenge in assessing the impact of seed placement on emergence and plant development. This next section will thus attempt to establish connections and discuss the interactions between these differences, leading to the observed outcomes.

5.1 Seeding depth and crop emergence

Following the seeding process, the objective is to achieve a quick and uniform emergence to establish a uniform and competitive crop. During this phase, the interaction between soil temperature, soil-water content, and seeding depth plays a crucial role in achieving these objectives (Lindstrom et al. 1976; DeJong & Best 1979). Lafond & Fowler (1989) conducted a study investigating how soil temperature, soil water, seeding date, and seeding depth affected median emergence time, development, and cold tolerance of winter wheat under controlled laboratory conditions. It also included a rainfall simulation study to see the effects on temperature, seeding depth, and rainfall amount, including six temperatures (5, 10, 15, 20, 25, and 30°C), two seeding depths (1.8 and 3.6 cm) along with three simulated rainfall amounts (6, 9.3, and 12.5 mm). Under dry seedbed conditions, Lafond & Fowler (1989) discovered that a simulated rainfall of 9.3 mm after seeding is enough to ensure a successful establishment with a seeding depth of less than 2.5 cm. Since all treatments in this field study only received just over 6 mm after seeding, this may explain the poorer germination in the seed drill treatments due to the larger seeding depth (Figure 4, Figure 6). However, the autumn season experienced abundant rainfalls, 171 mm in August alone. The high precipitation levels indicate that the seedbed likely was in a moist condition, and the additional rainfall of 6 mm after seeding should have been sufficient to get seeds at larger depths to germinate in the seed drill treatments. However, the increased seeding depth could also have limited the access to oxygen and therefore caused a lower germination rate (Anderson & Garlinge 2000; Bremner et al. 1963), and considering the significant rainfall levels during the autumn, this impact is likely to be amplified. However, during the seeding depth assessment on October 10th, no ungerminated seeds were discovered, indicating that the seed metering might have provided a seed output lower than the targeted seeding rate in the seed drill treatments. The same holds for the precision seeder, although with a seed output higher than the targeted seeding rate (Figure 6).

A lower number of the germinated seeds emerged in the seed drill treatments (Figure 6). Hines et al. (1991) and Kirby (1993) suggested that this could be attributed to the larger seeding depth. A deeper placement of seeds increases the risk of the first leaf emerging underground, thereby lacking the rigidity to push through the soil surface like the coleoptile, something that also was noticed in this field study. Hadjichristodoulou et al. (1977) also saw a strong correlation between emergence rates and seeding depth, with deeper-placed seeds exhibiting a lower emergence rate. The larger seeding depth observed in the seed drill treatments (Figure 4) might thus account for the lower emergence level in relation to the germination rate (Figure 6).

During emergence, the precision seeder reached both initial, 50, and 90% emergence faster than the seed drill. The precision seeder reached these emergence points at 129, 163, and 183 GDD, compared to the seed drill that required 146, 170, and 193 GDD (Table 3). Thereby requiring an extra 7 GDD to reach 50% emergence compared to the precision seeder. Given that seeding depth is recognized for its significant impact on the time of emergence (Hadjichristodoulou et al. 1977; DeJong & Best 1979; Lafond & Fowler 1989; Kirby 1993), this becomes the most probable explanation for the precision seeder to reach both initial, 50 and 90% emergence faster than the seed drill. But, even though the precision seeder showed a significantly faster emergence, a more substantial difference was anticipated, given the shallower seeding depth (Figure 4). According to (Karow et al. 1993), a winter wheat crop requires 80 GDD for the seed to germinate and then an additional 20 GDD per centimeter of seed depth to emerge. This means that the precision seeder should have reached 50% emergence at 126 GDD with an average seeding depth of 2.3 cm, and the seed drill should have reached 50% emergence at 168 GDD with an average seeding depth of 4.4 cm. However, according to the study of Andersson (2016), there was only a one-day difference in reaching 50% emergence when the seeding depth was increased from 2 cm to 4 cm, aligning more closely with the findings of this study. Nonetheless, the smaller difference in the 50% emergence time between the two seeders can be attributed to multiple factors.

For instance, the precision seeder had a tendency towards a more open seed slot (Figure 10),



Figure 10. Seedbed finish after seeding with precision seeder (left) and seed drill (right).

which very likely was a consequence of the wet autumn and perhaps a slightly misconfigured seeder. The open seed slot probably caused a poorer seed-to-soil contact, subsequently reducing the imbibition of water between the seed and soil (John et al. 2011), thereby causing the seeds to either germinate at a slower pace or pushing the germination process forward in time until received precipitation after seeding. The precision seeder also exhibited a longer period between seeding and precipitation since these treatments were sown one day before the seed drill treatments, which further amplified the effect of a poor seed-to-soil contact, as the ungerminated seeds had one extra day without development. These two factors are the most probable cause of why the precision seeder did not reach initial, 50 and 90% emergence faster than it did.

The precision seeder did not improve emergence uniformity as the period between initial emergence and 90% emergence was longer, with a GDD requirement of 54, compared to the seed drill that only required 47 GDD (Table 3). A poorer seed-to-soil contact in the precision seeder treatments is once again the most probable reason, as this caused seeds to germinate at a slower phase or not at all until received precipitation, which dragged out the emergence phase. The earlier seeding of the precision seeder treatments aggravates the situation even more, as the duration between seeding and received precipitation was increased. However, the increased variability in seeding depth, present in all seed drill treatments (Figure 4), should have caused a more uneven emergence in these treatments, as seeds positioned at different depths exhibit different temperature requirements before emerging (Karow et al. 1993). This further suggests that the precision seeder likely would

have attained a more uniform emergence without the drawback of a poorer soilseed contact due to a lower seed depth variability (Figure 4).

Variability in emergence was significantly reduced through the utilization of the precision seeder (Figure 8). This reduced variability may be attributed to a more consistent average seeding depth (Figure 4), resulting in less variation in emergence dates within the field. But if this were the sole reason, variability would be near zero towards the end of the emergence phase, as all plants would have emerged by then. However, this was only the case for the precision seeder, thus hinting at the impact of an improved seed singulation, as plant densities remained more consistent regardless of the within-field location.

In conclusion, the precision seeder treatments exceeded the targeted seeding rate, while the seed drill treatments likely fell below the targeted seeding rate. Less of the germinated seeds emerged in the seed drill treatments due to a larger seeding depth. The precision seeder reached emergence faster than the seed drill, which supports part one of hypothesis 3: Precision seeding will ensure a faster crop emergence compared to conventional seeding. However, the shallower seeding depth is the most apparent cause for the precision seeder to reach these points of emergence faster. The precision seeder did not improve emergence uniformity, which relinquishes the second part of hypothesis 3, Precision seeding will ensure a more even crop emergence compared to conventional seeding. However, the precision seeder would likely have attained a more uniform emergence without the drawback of a poorer soil-seed contact since the seed depth variability will be reduced with the use of a precision seeder compared to a conventional seed from the seed depth variability will be reduced with the use of a precision seeder compared to a conventional seed drill.

5.2 Seed singulation

The use of the precision seeder led to an improvement in seed singulation (Figure 5). But the seed singulation got poorer at higher seeding rates, both for the precision seeder and the seed drill, a trend also observed by (Bund 2021). The fact that the seed singulation becomes poorer at higher seeding rates is also a mathematical issue since the CoV is calculated by dividing the standard deviation by the theoretical seed distance. This means that a change in seed-to-seed distance will exert a more noticeable impact on the CoV at a lower theoretical seed distance. Since the theoretical seed distance increases at lower seeding rates or wider row spacings, this complicated the evaluation. The wider row spacing in the precision seeder treatments (Table 2) decreased the theoretical seed distance compared to the seed drill (Figure 5), which increased the CoV without actually reducing the seed singulation quality. This phenomenon might also account for the greater gap in CoV

among the seed drill treatments, as the theoretical seed distance varies more between each treatment compared to the precision seeder treatments, an effect caused by the narrower row spacing. This mathematical issue also makes it more challenging to compare results between studies, as the theoretical seed distance must be fairly similar. Despite this, both Bund (2021) and Canfield et al. (2019) showed in their respective studies that the seed singulation improved with the use of a precision seeder. Something that aligns with the results of this study. In contrast to the CoV, emergence variability offers additional insights into the evaluation of the seed singulation (Figure 8). Since the precision seeder exhibited a lower variability at the end of the emergence phase, this implies that the seed singulation was improved, as plant densities remained more consistent regardless of the withinfield location.

To sum up, direct comparisons between treatments regarding the CoV may not be accurate due to variations in theoretical seed distance. However, considering that the precision seeder displayed a lower CoV despite a reduced theoretical seed distance at each respective seeding rate, one could argue that the precision seeder improved seed singulation quality at all three seeding rates. The precision seeder also showed a reduced emergence variability, which further supports hypothesis 2: Seed singulation quality will improve with the use of a precision seeder compared to a conventional seed drill.

5.3 Plant development

When examining the observed outcomes, it is essential to remember that all three plant assessments have been conducted in different locations within the field. The observations do not, therefore, consistently portray the development of the same plants throughout the autumn. This factor can undoubtedly have impacted the results, as both representative and less representative locations may have been selected within the field.

The precision seeder showed a significantly greater number of developed leaves and tillers throughout the autumn (Table 4, Figure 9). However, the prolonged development cannot be attributed to a faster development rate since the phyllochron interval was more or less the same for both seeding methods between 50% emergence and November 12th (Table 4). The greater number of leaves and tillers is much more likely an effect of an earlier emergence caused by a shallower seeding depth (Hadjichristodoulou et al. 1977; Kirby 1993; Andersson 2016). However, there were instances when plant development appeared to accelerate in the precision seeder treatments, while simultaneously decelerating in the seed drill treatments, and vice versa. The precision seeder demonstrated a significantly faster development rate between 50% emergence and October 10th. The presence of a starter fertilizer, mainly attributed to the nitrogen component could according to Steinke et al. (2021) help accelerate tiller production in the autumn. However, nitrogen absorption is constrained during the autumn, and a winter wheat crop usually does not take up more than 20 kg of nitrogen per hectare (Lindén 2000). But even lower nitrogen rates can contribute to promote the production of autumn tillers (Alley et al. 2009; Oakes et al. 2016). As of this, it was suggested that the starter fertilizer could have helped to accelerate plant development in the precision seeder treatments as it was seed-placed and not side-banded (Table 2), giving earlier access to the nutrients in the fertilizer. This is also consistent with the field observations, as the precision seeder treatments appeared greener and more vigorous after emerging. However, it is essential to note that these observations may also be influenced by the earlier emergence and further developed plants in the precision seeder treatments. From October 11th to October 22nd, all seed drill treatments also started to display indications of greening, possibly reaching the side-banded placed fertilizer. Nonetheless, there were no significant differences in plant development rate between both seeders during this period. During the last period between October 23rd and November 12th, there was a reversal in the plant development rate, with the precision seeder displaying a significantly lower rate instead. This could be explained by the higher plant densities in the precision seeder treatments, as a result of the higher seed output. This in combination with a wider row spacing contributed to an increased intra-specific plant competition within the seed row. The study of Gooding et al. (2002) shows that variations in seed density can impact winter wheat development. Higher seed densities often lead to a gradual reduction in the number of developed tillers per plant (Spink et al. 2000; Gooding et al. 2002; Tigabu & Asfaw 2016). The reduced development rate observed for the precision seeder could also be intensified due to a generally higher weed pressure, increasing the inter-specific competition (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Winter wheat establishment at the 50% seeding rate, comparing weed pressure between precision seeding (right) and conventional seeding (left) on October 7th.

The increased weed pressure could be linked to the precision seeder's lack of tillage during seeding. Weed control was also delayed because of the wet conditions in October, allowing the weeds to grow large. Even though the precision seeder displayed an overall reduced development rate between October 23rd and November 12th, it notably demonstrated the fastest plant development of all six treatments at the 50% seeding rate. Although not statistically insignificant, this suggests that the improved seed singulation could have gained greater significance as the theoretical seed distance increased, by reducing the intra-specific plant competition through a more uniform spacing between plants (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Precision seeder with seed singulation. Results at the 50% seeding rate on October 10th.

Similar results were found in the study of Bund (2021), as the yield benefits obtained through precision seeding were found to be restricted at a decreased theoretical seed distance, as a result of a higher seeding rate. When used at the 50% seeding rate, the precision seeder also displays a tendency towards a lower phyllochron interval when accounting for the entire autumn period, with a GDD requirement of 75 per developed leave, along with a significantly higher tiller number per plant on November 12th compared to the other five treatments (Table 4).

The uniformity of the plant stand has consistently favoured the seed drill over the precision seeder. This is evident in the lower standard deviation (SD) for the seed drill across all three plant assessments (Table 4). This trend is also illustrated in Figure 9, where the precision seeder displays shorter bars across more development stages compared to the seed drill. However, a significant difference between the two seeding methods was observed only on October 10th and October 22nd. The research by Gan et al. (1992) found that a uniform emergence leaves a crop stand with more equally sized plants. This was probably the case in this field study too, as the precision seeder treatments had a tendency towards a longer emergence

phase, thus leading to a higher variability in crop phenological development, as plants initiated leaf development over a broader period.

The emergence variability can offer additional insights into the development of the plant stand composition (Figure 8). Given the lower variability attained with the precision seeder, it can be assumed that plants emerged in the same pattern regardless of the within-field position. Suggesting that the variability in crop phenological development also are more similar regardless of the within-field position, although plants in this composition may exhibit a broader range of development stages. This is also evident in Figure 9, as the precision seeder generally exhibits a lower and more stable standard deviation between treatments and over time. The plant density is also expected to stay more similar regardless of the within-field location due to the improved seed singulation, thus giving the same tiller density at any given position within the field.

It usually takes 100 GDD between the appearance of successive leaves of a winter wheat crop (Karow et al. 1993; Anderson & Garlinge 2000; Fowler 2018). This can however range between 75 and 120 GDD (Karow et al. 1993; Oakes et al. 2016; Fowler 2018). The chosen variety in the field trial was RGT Koi, showing a phyllochron between 75-80 GDD when accounting for the overall autumnal development (Table 4). Therefore having an excellent ability to produce many tillers per plant considering the general requirement of 100 GDD. Something that is advantageous for the precision seeder with a wider row spacing, as varieties with a lower phyllochron generally perform better than varieties with a higher phyllochron at a wider row spacing (Hussain et al. 2012).

All in all, the precision seeder stayed ahead in plant development throughout the entire autumn, most likely because of an earlier emergence. Despite the varying pace in plant development between the two seeding methods, no significant differences were found when accounting for the entire autumn period, therefore opposing the first part of hypothesis 4: Precision seeding will ensure a faster crop development compared to conventional seeding. But, when used at the 50% seeding rate, the precision seeder exhibited a significantly higher number of tillers per plant compared to the other five treatments on November 12th. This was believed to be attributed to an improved seed singulation, reducing the intra-specific plant competition. The precision seeder displayed a higher variability in crop phenological development, which relinquishes the second part of hypothesis 4: Precision seeding will ensure a more uniform crop development compared to conventional seeding. The underlying factor was believed to be caused by a less even emergence, caused by a poorer seed-to-soil contact.

5.4 Improvement potentials and future studies

When contemplating improvements for future research, it is crucial to determine whether the weight should be on investigating a seeding concept or individual factors such as the seed singulation and seed depth variability. In this experiment, two distinct seeding concepts were compared, each arranged with different fertilizer placements and row spacings. This complexity added challenges and complicated the evaluation of the seed singulation, emergence and plant development. Moreover, variations in average seeding depth and seeding date between both seeders further complicated the evaluation. Hence, if the field trial was to be repeated, to assess the sole impact of an improved seed singulation and reduced seeding depth variability on emergence and plant development, it would be necessary to restructure the experimental conditions. This involves minimizing the number of uncontrolled variables. Which includes maintaining a consistent row spacing between both seeders and using a broadcast spreader to distribute the starter fertilizer evenly across the field, enabling for a similar nutrient availability. If feasible, it is also crucial that all treatments are sown on the same day for a more reliable comparison between the seeders. It becomes equally important to have similar machine settings, including the average seeding depth and verifying an accurate adjustment of the seeding rate.

During this study, emergence was recorded when the seedling reached a height of five centimeters, which does not precisely align with other literature where emergence typically occurs when the seedling breaks through the soil crust, something to consider in future studies. Additionally, digging up seeds during germination could provide valuable insights into the emergence rate and emergence uniformity. Originally, the plan was to weigh the root biomass. However, the wet autumn and the likelihood that the high weed pressure had constituted to a more significant part of the biomass put this idea on hold, making it a prospect for future studies. It could also be interesting to evaluate the value of equally sized seeds, as several studies have shown that differences in seed size can influence emergence uniformity (Hadjichristodoulou et al. 1977; Gan et al. 1992; Aparicio et al. 2002; Chaichi et al. 2022). In this specific study, precision seeding demonstrated a tendency for a higher plant development rate at the lowest seeding rate. It would be interesting to explore this further by reducing the seeding rate even more or adopting a narrower row spacing. This could also be combined by testing different winter wheat varieties to understand which variety characteristics are best suited when utilizing seed singulation. Future studies could also explore the possible benefits of seed singulation in combination with plant growth regulators and fungicide applications, with the assumption that these management practices may be more responsive if precision seeding can offer less variability in crop phenological development within the crop stand.

6. Concluding discussion

Precision seeding shows promising findings to further improve winter wheat establishment, both through an improved seed singulation and reduced seed depth variability. However, the improved seed singulation does not appear to be that advantageous at higher seeding rates or wider row spacings, as this results in plants being positioned closer together within the seed row. The potential impact of even lower seeding rates or narrower row spacings could therefore be a prospect for future studies, anticipating that an improved seed singulation may result in an accelerated plant development when plants are positioned further apart within the seed row. Furthermore, to fully unlock the potential of a reduced seed depth variability, all seeds must germinate promptly upon seeding to achieve a uniform emergence and plant development. To ensure this, seeds should be placed at a depth with adequate soil moisture that applies to the entire field, along with a sufficient seed-to-soil contact. During this field trial, both seeders were configured with different row spacings and fertilizer placements, which implies that further research is required to better understand the sole impact of an improved seed singulation and reduced seed depth variability on emergence and plant development, but also their subsequent contributions to the final yield. Different varieties may be included in future trials to recognize which variety characteristics are best suited when plants are distributed more uniformly. A more uniform plant distribution might also affect the below-ground competition, making it interesting to study the root biomass response. Furthermore, in the pursuit of achieving a completely uniform emergence, the consideration of selecting seeds of uniform size is worth exploring. Future studies could also investigate the use of plant growth regulators and fungicide applications to further elevate the value of precision seeding, with the assumption that these management practices may be more responsive if precision seeding can offer less variability in crop phenological development within the crop stand.

References

- ADAS (2023). *Yield Enhancement Network. ADAS*. https://adas.co.uk/services/yieldenhancement-network-yen/ [2023-11-21]
- Alley, M.M., Scharf, P., Brann, D.E., Baethgen, W.E. & Hammons, J.L. (2009). Nitrogen management for winter wheat: Principles and recommendations. *Virginia Cooperative Extension*. https://www.pubs.ext.vt.edu/content/dam/pubs_ext_vt_edu/424/424-026/SPES-82.pdf
- Anderson, D. (2022). Do pretty corn fields actually translate into higher yields? https://www.agweb.com/news/crops/corn/do-pretty-corn-fields-actually-translatehigher-yields [2023-11-28]
- Anderson, W.K. & Garlinge, J.R. (2000). The wheat book : Principles and practice.
- Andersson, A. (2016). Höstveteetablering– Inverkan av sådjup och aggregatstorleksfördelning på uppkomst och skottutveckling. https://stud.epsilon.slu.se/8990/ [2023-11-30]
- Aparicio, N., Villegas, D., Araus, J.L., Blanco, R. & Royo, C. (2002). Seedling development and biomass as affected by seed size and morphology in durum wheat. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. 139 (2), 143–150. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859602002411
- ATL (2023). *Då släpps Proceed på marknaden*. *ATL*. https://www.atl.nu/da-slapps-proceed-pa-marknaden [2024-01-27]
- Bagg, J., Ball, Dr.B., Banks, S., Baute, T., Bohner, H., Brown, C., Cowbrough, M., Dyck, J., Ferguson, T., Follings, J., Hall, B., Hayes, A., Johnson, P., Kyle, J., McDonald, Dr.I., Moran, M., Munroe, J., Quesnel, G., Rabe, N., Rosser, B., Spieser, H., Stewart, G., Tenuta, A. & Verhallen, A. (2017). *Agronomy guide for field crops*. (811). Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs. https://www.ontario.ca/files/2022-10/omafra-agronomy-guide-for-field-crops-en-2022-10-13.pdf
- Baker, J.T., Pinter Jr., P.J., Reginato, R.J. & Kanemasu, E.T. (1986). Effects of temperature on leaf appearance in spring and winter wheat cultivars. *Agronomy Journal*. 78 (4), 605–613. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1986.00021962007800040010x

- Beck, H.E., Zimmermann, N.E., McVicar, T.R., Vergopolan, N., Berg, A. & Wood, E.F. (2018). Present and future Köppen-Geiger climate classification maps at 1-km resolution. *Scientific Data*. 5 (1), https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.214
- Bremner, P.M., Eckersall, R.N. & Scott, R.K. (1963). The relative importance of embryo size and endosperm size in causing the effects associated with seed size in wheat. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. 61 (1), 139–145. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600013800
- Bund, T. (2021). Seed placement accuracy in cereals: Agronomic and economic capabilities of winter wheat in crop growth and yield formation at improved crop space homogeneity. (doctoralThesis). Justus Liebig University Giessen. https://doi.org/10.22029/jlupub-5902
- Canfield, K., Singh, M. & Pennington, D (2019). *Maximizing yield potential in winter wheat through precision planting and agronomic management*. Michigan State University. https://miwheat.org/research-results/precision-planting/
- Carter, P.R., Nafziger, E.D. & Lauer, J.G. (1989). Uneven emergence in corn. *North Central Regional Extension Publication*. (344), https://www.baycountymi.gov/Docs/CitizenCorps/UnevenEmergenceInCorn.pdf
- Chaichi, M., Nemati, A., Dadrasi, A., Heydari, M., Hassanisaadi, M., Yousefi, A.R., Baldwin, T.C. & Mastinu, A. (2022). Germination of Triticum aestivum L: Effects of soil–seed interaction on the growth of seedlings. *Soil Systems*. 6 (2), 37. https://doi.org/10.3390/soilsystems6020037
- Copeland, P., Singh, M. & Pennington, D. (2021). Comparing planting technologies for their impact on seed placement and yield in small grains. Cropping Systems Agronomy. https://www.canr.msu.edu/resources/comparing-plantingtechnologies-for-their-impact-on-seed-placement-and-yield-in-small-grains [2023-11-21]
- Crozier, C., Heiniger, R. & Weisz, R. (2013). *Small grain production guide*. North Carolina State University. https://content.ces.ncsu.edu/pdf/small-grainproduction-guide/2017-02-06/AG580-web.pdf
- DeJong, R. & Best, K.F. (1979). The effect of soil water potential, temperature and seeding depth on seedling emergence of wheat. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*. 59 (3), 259–264. https://doi.org/10.4141/cjss79-029
- Eriksson, J. & Magnusson, M. (2014). *Optimerad höstveteetablering*. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. Institutionen för mark och miljö. https://stud.epsilon.slu.se/6584/ [2023-11-30]
- Eurofins (2023). *Tolka dina analysresultat. Eurofins Scientific.* https://www.eurofins.se/soek/ [2024-03-04]
- Fageria, N.K., Baligar, V.C., Clark, R.B. & Clark, R.B. (2006). *Physiology of crop* production. Food Products Press.

- Fahad, S., Hussain, S., Chauhan, B.S., Saud, S., Wu, C., Hassan, S., Tanveer, M., Jan, A. & Huang, J. (2015). Weed growth and crop yield loss in wheat as influenced by row spacing and weed emergence times. *Crop Protection*. 71, 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2015.02.005
- Fowler, D. (2018). Growth Stages of Wheat Winter. A practical guide to successful winter wheat production. 1001-1012. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/327704566_Winter_Wheat_Production _Manual_Ch_10_Growth_Stages_of_Wheat
- Gan, Y., Stobbe, E.H. & Moes, J. (1992). Relative date of wheat seedling emergence and its impact on grain yield. *Crop Science*. 32 (5), 1275–1281. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci1992.0011183X003200050042x
- Gooding, M.J., Pinyosinwat, A. & Ellis, R.H. (2002). Responses of wheat grain yield and quality to seed rate. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. 138 (3), 317–331. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859602002137
- Great Lakes YEN (2023). Great Lakes YEN. Great Lakes Yen. https://greatlakesyen.com/ [2023-11-21]
- Hadjichristodoulou, A., Della, A. & Photiades, J. (1977). Effect of sowing depth on plant establishment, tillering capacity and other agronomic characters of cereals. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. 89 (1), 161–167. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600027337
- Hines, S., Andrews, M., Scott, W.R. & Jack, D.W (1991). Sowing depth effects on emergence of wheat: the importance of coleoptile length. Department of Plant Science, Lincoln University. https://www.agronomysociety.org.nz/files/SP9_12._Sowing_depth_effects_on_w heat.pdf
- Hoad, S., Russell, G., Kettlewell, P. & Belshaw, M. (2004). Root system management in winter wheat: Practices to increase water and nitrogen use. Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board. https://projectblue.blob.core.windows.net/media/Default/Research%20Papers/Cer eals%20and%20Oilseed/pr351-final-project-report.pdf
- Hooks, M. (n.d.). Wheat planting depth study. University of Kentucky. https://wheatscience.ca.uky.edu/sites/wheatscience.ca.uky.edu/files/00-01pg23.pdf
- Horsch (2023). Solus The sowing method of the future? Potentials and limits. https://terra.horsch.com/en/issue-26-2023/company-insights/solus-the-sowingmethod-of-the-future-potentials-and-limits-philipp-horsch [2023-11-19]
- Hunter, M.C., Smith, R.G., Schipanski, M.E., Atwood, L.W. & Mortensen, D.A. (2017). Agriculture in 2050: Recalibrating targets for sustainable intensification. *BioScience*. 67 (4), 386–391. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/bix010

- Hussain, M., Mehmood, Z., Khan, M.B., Farooq, S., Lee, D.-J. & Farooq, M. (2012). Narrow row spacing ensures higher productivity of low tillering wheat cultivars. *Int. J. Agric. Biol.*, 14 (3), https://www.fspublishers.org/published_papers/55332_..pdf
- Håkansson, I., von Polgar, J., Rydberg, T. & Westlin, A. (2008). *Experiments on the function of seedbeds*. (115). Swedish University of Agricuiturai Sciences. https://pub.epsilon.slu.se/5098/1/hakansson_i_et_al_100823.pdf
- Johansson, D. (1955). Germination and plant development at low temperature in pot and field experiments. (14). Swedish University of Agricuiturai Sciences. https://pub.epsilon.slu.se/5238/1/johansson_d_100921.pdf
- John, L.S., Tilley, D.J., Ogle, D., Jacobs, J., Holzworth, L. & Wiesner, D.L. (2011). *Principles of seedbed preparation for conservation seedings*. (13). USDA – Natural Resources Conservation Service Boise, Idaho. https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/plantmaterials/idpmctn10748.pdf
- Jordbruksverket (2024). *Rekommendationer för gödsling och kalkning 2024*. https://webbutiken.jordbruksverket.se/sv/artiklar/jo219.html [2024-03-07]
- Karow, R.S., Klepper, E.L., Rickman, R.W. & Toll, T.R. (1993). *Early growth and development of cereals*. Oregon State University.
- Kimmelshue, C.L., Goggi, A.S. & Moore, K.J. (2022). Single-plant grain yield in corn (Zea mays L.) based on emergence date, seed size, sowing depth, and plant to plant distance. *Crops.* 2 (1), 62–86. https://doi.org/10.3390/crops2010006
- Kirby, E.J.M. (1993). Effect of sowing depth on seedling emergence, growth and development in barley and wheat. *Field Crops Research*. 35 (2), 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-4290(93)90143-B
- Kirby, E.J.M., Appleyard, M. & Fellowes, G. (1985). Leaf emergence and tillering in barley and wheat. *Agronomie*. 5 (3), 193–200. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:19850301
- Knapp, W.R. & Knapp, J.S. (1978). Response of winter wheat to date of planting and fall fertilization. *Agronomy Journal*. 70 (6), 1048–1053. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1978.00021962007000060037x
- Krall, J.M., Esechie, H.A., Raney, R.J., Clark, S., TenEyck, G., Lundquist, M., Humburg, N.E., Axthelm, L.S., Dayton, A.D. & Vanderlip, R.L. (1977). Influence of within-row variability in plant spacing on corn grain yield. *Agronomy Journal*. 69 (5), 797–799. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1977.00021962006900050016x
- Lafond, G. p. & Fowler, B.D. (1989). Soil temperature and water content, seeding depth, and simulated rainfall effects on winter wheat emergence. *Agronomy Journal*. 81 (4), 609–614. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1989.00021962008100040012x

- Lantmännen (2023). Såtidpunkt och jordart, hur påverkar det min utsädesmängd? Här får du svar från Lantmännen! https://www.odla.lantmannenlantbruk.se/utsadebetning/utsadesmangd/ [2024-03-08]
- Large, E.C. (1954). Growth stages in cereals illustration of the Feeks scale. *Plant Pathology*. 3 (4), 128–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.1954.tb00716.x
- Lindén, B. (2000). *Höstsäds kväveupptag under hösten*. (5). Institutionen för jordbruksvetenskap Skara. https://pub.epsilon.slu.se/3308/1/RAPP5MV.PDF
- Lindstrom, M.J., Papendick, R.I. & Koehler, F.E. (1976). A model to predict winter wheat emergence as affected by soil temperature, water potential, and depth of planting. *Agronomy Journal*. 68 (1), 137–141. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1976.00021962006800010038x
- McMaster, G.S. & Wilhelm, W.W. (1997). Growing degree-days: One equation, two interpretations. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*. 87 (4), 291–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(97)00027-0
- Meier, U. (2001). Growth stages of mono-and dicotyledonous plants.
- Murray, J., Tullberg, J. & Basnet, B. (2006). *Planters and their components: Types, attributes, functional requirements, classification and description.*
- Nielsen, R.L. (1993). Stand establishment variability in corn. Proceedings of proceedings of the 1992 crop production and protection conference, December 2. Iowa State University, Digital Press. https://doi.org/10.31274/icm-180809-430
- Oakes, J., Heiniger, R., Crozier, C., Murphy, J. & Wilkerson, G. (2016). Phyllochron interval and yield response to planting date and fertility in wheat. *Crop, Forage* & *Turfgrass Management*. 2 (1), cftm2016.03.0026. https://doi.org/10.2134/cftm2016.03.0026
- Olesen, J., Petersen, J., Haastrup, M. & Knudsen, L. (2010). Causes of yield stagnation in Danish winter wheat. Aarhus University. https://pure.au.dk/portal/files/34205980/DJF_Rap.Mark147_internet.pdf
- Ona, A., Grazina, K. & Birute, J. (2018). The influence of crop density and sowing delay on weed germination in winter wheat. *Julius-Kühn-Archiv*. (458), 307-310 Seiten. https://doi.org/10.5073/JKA.2018.458.044
- Rai, R.K., Stoskopf, N.C. & Reinbergs, E. (1970). Studies with hybrid wheat in Ontario. Canadian Journal of Plant Science. 50 (4), 485–491. https://doi.org/10.4141/cjps70-088
- Ray, D.K., Mueller, N.D., West, P.C. & Foley, J.A. (2013). Yield trends are insufficient to double global crop production by 2050. *PLOS ONE*. 8 (6), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066428

- Ray, D.K., Ramankutty, N., Mueller, N.D., West, P.C. & Foley, J.A. (2012). Recent patterns of crop yield growth and stagnation. *Nature Communications*. 3 (1), 1293. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2296
- Schauberger, B., Ben-Ari, T., Makowski, D., Kato, T., Kato, H. & Ciais, P. (2018). Yield trends, variability and stagnation analysis of major crops in France over more than a century. *Scientific Reports*. 8 (1), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-35351-1
- Senapati, N. & Semenov, M.A. (2020). Large genetic yield potential and genetic yield gap estimated for wheat in Europe. *Global Food Security*. 24, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2019.100340
- Slafer, G.A. & Rawson, H.M. (1995). Base and optimum temperatures vary with genotype and stage of development in wheat. *Plant, Cell & Environment*. 18 (6), 671–679. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.1995.tb00568.x
- SMHI (2023a). Dataserier med normalvärden för perioden 1991-2020. https://www.smhi.se/data/meteorologi/dataserier-med-normalvarden-forperioden-1991-2020-1.167775 [2023-11-01]
- SMHI (2023b). Ladda ner meteorologiska observationer. https://www.smhi.se/data/meteorologi/ladda-ner-meteorologiskaobservationer/#param=precipitation24HourSum,stations=core,stationid=85180 [2023-12-16]
- Spink, J.H., Semere, T., Sparkes, D.L., Whaley, J.M., Foulkes, M.J., Clare, R.W. & Scott, R.K. (2000). Effect of sowing date on the optimum plant density of winter wheat. *Annals of Applied Biology*. 137 (2), 179–188. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.2000.tb00049.x
- Steinke, K., Purucker, S. & Chilvers, M. (2021). Integrating multiple inputs for soft red and white winter wheat. Agronomy Journal. 113 (5), 4306–4322. https://doi.org/10.1002/agj2.20790
- Tao, Z., Ma, S., Chang, X., Wang, D., Wang, Y., Yang, Y., Zhao, G. & Yang, J. (2019). Effects of tridimensional uniform sowing on water consumption, nitrogen use, and yield in winter wheat. *The Crop Journal*. 7 (4), 480–493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cj.2018.12.006
- Thiry, D.E., Sears, R.G., Shroyer, J.P. & Paulsen, G.M. (2002). Planting date effects on tiller development and productivity of wheat. *Kansas Agricultural Experiment Station Research Reports*. (12). https://doi.org/10.4148/2378-5977.7333
- Tigabu, R. & Asfaw, F. (2016). Effects of seed rate and row spacing on yield and yield components of bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) in Dalbo Awtaru Woreda, Wolaita Zone, Southern Ethiopia. *Journal of Biology*. 6 (7), 58-67. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/234661959.pdf

- Väderstad (2023). Väderstads Proceed öppnar upp för framtidens sådd. https://www.vaderstad.com/se/omoss/nyheter/nyhetsarkiv/2021/internationella/vaderstads-proceed-oppnar-upp-forframtidens-sadd/ [2023-11-19]
- Wise, K., Johnson, B., Botany, P. & Pathology, P. (2011). *Managing wheat by growth stage*. Purdue University. https://www.extension.purdue.edu/extmedia/id/id-422.pdf
- Zadoks, J.C., Chang, T.T. & Konzak, C.F. (1974). A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weed Research*. 14 (6), 415–421. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3180.1974.tb01084.x

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Nya förbättrade jordbruksmetoder och innovationer har drivit avkastningsnivåerna av höstvete till nya höjder, vilket har säkerställt en riklig och pålitlig tillgång av detta viktiga baslivsmedel. Trots de betydande framstegen som har åstadkommits, börjar det finnas tecken på att skördeutvecklingen avtar runt om i världen. Denna stagnation är oroande med tanke på den ökande efterfrågan på livsmedel till följd av en växande global befolkning. Trots detta är det tydligt att det finns en större genetisk potential för ytterligare skördeökningar. Med ett växande intresse för precisionssådd av höstvete har nyligen genomförda studier visat att höstveteavkastningen kan ökas mellan 5% och 11% genom att använda specialdesignade såmaskiner eller såmaskiner anpassade för radsådda grödor, i syfte att replikera det potentiella resultatet med en precisionssåmaskin anpassad för spannmål. Precisionsådd skiljer sig från den konventionella såmetoden av höstvete genom att fröna i såraden kan placeras med ett enhetlig avstånd mellan varandra, också kallat frösingulering. En precisionssåmaskin är dessutom designad för att kunna bibehålla ett mer konsekvent sådjup. Flera maskintillverkare har börjat titta närmre på hur precisionsådd skulle kunna anpassas till höstvete, vilket i vanliga fall utnyttjas i grödor som kärnmajs och sojabönor. I nuläget finns det ännu inte någon precisionssåmaskin anpassad för höstvete tillgänglig på den öppna marknaden, men detta kommer troligen förändras inom en snar framtid.

Syftet med studien var att utvärdera om en precisionssåmaskin, specifik designad för spannmål, kunde förbättra etableringen av höstvete. Till skillnad från tidigare forskning, inriktades inte bara studien på utsädesplaceringen, utan också på dess effekter på uppkomsten och plantutvecklingen. Ett fältexperiment genomfördes därför i södra Sverige för att jämföra en precisionssåmaskinsprototyp mot en konventionell såmaskin vid tre olika utsädesmängder, 188, 281 och 375 frön/m². Grödetableringen utvärderades genom att analysera sådjup, frösingulering, uppkomst och plantutveckling.

Resultaten tyder på att precisionssådd kan bidra till att förbättra etableringen av höstvete, både genom en förbättrad frösingulering och minskad sådjupsvariation. Den förbättrade frösinguleringen antas dock inte bli lika fördelaktig vid högre utsädesmängder eller bredare radavstånd, eftersom detta resulterar i att plantorna placeras närmare varandra i såraden. Dessutom, för att helt utnyttja potentialen med en minskad sådjupsvariation måste samtliga frön gro direkt vid sådd för att uppnå en jämn uppkomst och plantutveckling. Under detta fältförsök var båda såmaskinerna konfigurerade med olika radavstånd och gödselplaceringar, vilket antyder på att mer forskning behövs för att få en bättre förståelse över den enskilda effekten av en förbättrad frösingulering och minskad sådjupsvariation på uppkomsten och plantutvecklingen, men också deras efterföljande bidrag till den slutliga skörden.

Acknowledgements

A special thanks to my supervisor Thomas Keller for assisting me in finding the right contacts within the explored area and by participating in meetings and discussions. Big appreciation to my assistant supervisor, Martin Weih, for participating in discussions and providing many valuable suggestions. A big thanks to my other assistant supervisor, Nina Pettersson, and everyone involved from Väderstad AB, for making this field trial possible. I also want to thank Ulrik Lovang and everyone at Lovang Lantbrukskonsult AB for their support and valuable discussions during the project.

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. You will find a link to SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318</u>.

 \boxtimes YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.